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64B18-14.001 Probable Cause Panel.

The chair of the Board shall appoint no fewer than two and no more than three members of the Board to the probable cause panel, and shall appoint one of those members to chair it.

(1) In lieu of a current member of the Board, the chair of the Board may appoint a former member of the Board to serve on the probable cause panel.

(2) If the chair appoints only two people to serve on the probable cause panel, the chair may appoint a third member solely for the purpose of casting a third vote in a situation where the two members of the panel fail to agree on the disposition of any particular case.

(3) The chair may also temporarily appoint other members of the Board to the probable cause panel to take the place of any probable cause panel member who is unable to attend a probable cause panel meeting.

Rulemaking Authority 461.004(4), 461.005 FS. Law Implemented 456.073(4), 461.004(4) FS. History–New 1-29-80, Formerly 21T-14.01, 21T-14.001, 61F12-14.001, Amended 2-25-96, 6-17-97, Formerly 64B18-14.001.

64B18-14.002 Disciplinary Guidelines.

The Board sets forth below a range of disciplinary guidelines from which disciplinary penalties will be imposed upon a licensee whom it regulates under Chapters 456 and 461, F.S. The purpose of the disciplinary guidelines is to give notice to licensees of the range of penalties which will normally be imposed upon violations of particular provisions of either Chapter 456 or 461, F.S., and/or any laws and rules adopted pursuant thereto. The brief description of each violation is provided for quick reference and is not intended to convey all elements of any given statutory provision. The full language of each statutory provision cited must be consulted in order to determine the conduct involved. The disciplinary guidelines are based upon a single count violation of each provision listed. Multiple counts of violations of the same provision of Chapter 456 or 461, F.S., and/or the laws and rules adopted pursuant thereto, or other unrelated violations contained in the same administrative complaint will be grounds for enhancement of penalties. All penalties at the upper range of the sanctions set forth in the guidelines, i.e., suspension, revocation, etc., include lesser penalties, i.e., fine, probation or reprimand which may be included in the final penalty.
	VIOLATION
	FLORIDA LICENSEE PENALTY RANGE
	OUT-OF-STATE TELEHEALTH PROVIDER PENALTY RANGE 

	
	FIRST VIOLATION
	SECOND AND SUBSEQUENT VIOLATIONS
	FIRST VIOLATION
	SECOND AND SUBSEQUENT VIOLATIONS

	(1) Practicing or attempting to practice podiatric medicine without an active license or with a license fraudulently obtained.

(Section 461.012(1)(a), F.S.)
	
	
	
	

	a. Practicing with a license that was fraudulently obtained.
	MIN: Revocation and a $10,000 fine;
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: Revocation and a $10,000 fine;
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation. 

	b. Practicing or attempting to practice podiatric medicine without an active license.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation. 
	MIN: $10,000 fine and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.

	(2) Advertising podiatric services without an active license or with a license fraudulently obtained.

(Section 461.012(1)(b), F.S.)
	
	
	
	

	a. Advertising with a license that was fraudulently obtained.
	MIN: Revocation and a $10,000 fine;
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: Revocation and a $10,000 fine;
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation. 

	b. Advertising without an active license.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: $1,000 fine and one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $2,500 fine;
MAX: $5,000 fine and one (1) year probation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(3) Using or attempting to use a license to practice podiatric medicine which has been suspended.

(Section 461.012(1)(b), F.S.)
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation. 
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.

	(4) Selling or fraudulently obtaining or furnishing any podiatry diploma, license, or record of registration or aiding or abetting the same. 

(Section 461.012(2)(a), F.S.)
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation. 

	(5) Making any willfully false oath or affirmation whenever an oath or affirmation is required by Chapter 461, F.S.

(Section 461.012(2)(b), F.S.)
	MIN: $10,000 fine and six (6) month suspension followed by one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation and a $10,000 fine;
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation. 

	(6) Using any name, title, or phrase which would lead the public to believe that such person is engaging in the practice of podiatric medicine, unless such person is licensed as a podiatric physician in this state.

(Section 461.012(2)(c), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(7) Knowingly concealing information relative to a violation of Chapter 461, F.S.

(Section 461.012(2)(d), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $2,000 fine;
MAX: $7,500 fine and one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(8) Attempting to obtain, obtaining or renewing a license to practice podiatric medicine by bribery, by fraudulent misrepresentation, or through an error of the Department or the Board.
(Sections 461.013(1)(a), and 456.072(1)(h), F.S.)
	
	
	
	

	a. Bribery.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine;
MAX: Revocation.  
	MIN: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Reprimand; 
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.

	b. Fraudulent 
Misrepresentations.
	MIN: $10,000 fine;
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: Revocation and a $10,000 fine;
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand; 
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	c. Error of the Department or Board.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $2,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand; 
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(9) Having a license to practice podiatric medicine revoked, suspended, or otherwise acted against, including the denial of licensure, by the licensing authority of another state, territory, or country.

(Sections 461.013(1)(b), and 456.072(1)(f), F.S.)
	MIN: $500 fine and same penalty as imposed in the other jurisdiction or as closely as possible to penalties for similar violation;
MAX: $5,000 fine and same penalty as imposed in the other jurisdiction or as closely as possible to penalties for similar violation.
	MIN: $5,000 fine and same penalty as imposed in the other jurisdiction or as closely as possible to penalties for similar violation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Revocation.

(Discipline shall be as close as possible to the penalty imposed in other jurisdiction.)
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Revocation.

(Discipline shall be as close as possible to the penalty imposed in other jurisdiction.)

	(10) Being convicted or found guilty of, or entering a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, regardless of adjudication, of a crime in any jurisdiction which relates to the practice of podiatric medicine or the ability to practice podiatric medicine.

(Sections 461.013(1)(c), and 456.072(1)(c), F.S.)
	MIN: $5,000 fine and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan; 
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(11) Advertising in a manner which is false, deceptive or misleading.

(Section 461.013(1)(d), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: $5,000 fine and six (6) months of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine;
MAX: $10,000 fine and six (6) months of suspension.
	MIN: Reprimand; 
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(12) Advertising, practicing or attempting to practice under a name other than one’s own.

(Section 461.013(1)(e), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: $5,000 fine and six (6) months of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine;
MAX: $10,000 fine and six (6) months of suspension.
	MIN: Reprimand; 
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(13) Failing to report to the Department any person the licensee knows to be in violation of Chapters 456 or 461, F.S., or the rules of the Board or Department.

(Sections 456.072(1)(i), and 461.013(1)(f), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $2,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $2,500 fine;
MAX: $5,000 fine and one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(14) Aiding, assisting, procuring, permitting or advising any unlicensed person to practice a profession contrary to Chapter 456 or 461, F.S., or the rules of the Board or Department.

(Sections 456.072(1)(j) and 461.013(1)(g), F.S.)
	MIN: $1,000 fine and six (6) months of probation;
MAX: $5,000 fine and six (6) month suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: $5,000 fine and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(15) Failing to perform any statutory or legal obligation placed upon a licensee.

(Sections 456.072(1)(k), and 461.013(1)(h), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine;
MAX: $8,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: $5,000 fine and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(16) Making or filing a report or record which the licensee knows to be false, intentionally or negligently failing to file a report or record required by state or federal law, willfully impeding or obstructing such filing, or inducing another person to impede or obstruct such filing.

(Sections 456.072(1)(l), and 461.013(1)(i), F.S.)
	
	
	
	

	a. Making or filing a false report.
	MIN: $10,000 fine and one (1) year of probation; 
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension;
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan; 
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	b. Failing to file a report, impeding another from filing a report, or inducing another to impede the filing of a report. 
	MIN: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: $2,500 fine and one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: $2,500 fine and six (6) months of probation; 
MAX: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan; 
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan; 
MAX: Revocation.

	(17) Making misleading, deceptive, untrue or fraudulent representations in the practice of podiatric medicine, or employing a trick or scheme.

(Sections 456.072(1)(a) and (m); and 461.013(1)(j), F.S.)
	MIN: $10,000 fine and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation;

MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan; 
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(18) Soliciting patients either personally or through an agent.

(Section 461.013(1)(k), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: $2,000 fine and six (6) months of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine;
MAX: $10,000 fine and one (1) year of probation. 
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan. 
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan; 
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(19) Failing to keep written medical records justifying the course of treatment of the patient.

(Section 461.013(1)(l), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: $2,000 fine and six (6) months of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine;
MAX: $10,000 fine and one (1) year of probation. 
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan. 
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan; 
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(20) Exercising influence on the patient or client for financial gain of the licensee or of a third party.

(Sections 456.072(1)(n), and 461.013(1)(m), F.S.)
	MIN: $1,000 fine and six (6) months of probation;
MAX: $5,000 fine and six (6) month suspension followed by six (6) months of probation.
	MIN: $5,000 fine and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(21) Performing professional services which have not been duly authorized by the patient or client or his legal representative.

(Section 461.013(1)(n), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: $5,000 fine and one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine;
MAX: $10,000 fine and six (6) month suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: Reprimand;

MAX: Six (6) month suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(22) Prescribing, dispensing, administering, mixing or otherwise preparing a legend drug, including all controlled substances, other than in the course of the podiatric physician’s professional practice.

(Section 461.013(1)(o), F.S.)
	MIN: $10,000 fine and six (6) month suspension;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Suspension and corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(23) Prescribing, dispensing, or administering any medicinal drug appearing on any schedule set forth in Chapter 893, F.S., by the podiatric physician to himself.

(Section 461.013(1)(p), F.S.)
	MIN: $3,000 fine and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: $8,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: $10,000 fine and six (6) month suspension followed by one (1) year of probation; 
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan; 
MAX: Revocation.

	(24) Prescribing, ordering, dispensing, administering, supplying, selling or giving amphetamine or sympathomimetic amine drug or compound designated as a Schedule II controlled substance pursuant to Chapter 893, F.S.

(Section 461.013(1)(q), F.S.)
	MIN: $1,000 fine and six (6) month suspension followed by six (6) months of probation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation; 
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Six (6) month suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan; 
MAX: Revocation.

	(25) Being unable to practice podiatric medicine with reasonable skill and safety to patients by reason of illness, or use of alcohol, drugs, narcotic, chemicals or any other type of material or as a result of any mental or physical condition.

(Sections 456.072(1)(z) and 461.013(1)(r), F.S.)
	MIN: $1,000 fine and suspension until safe to practice with reasonable skill and safety;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: $2,500 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by suspension until safe to practice with reasonable skill and safety;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan including, at a minimum, demonstration of the ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan as outlined above.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan including, at a minimum, demonstration of the ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety;
MAX: Revocation.

	(26) Gross or repeated malpractice or the failure to practice podiatric medicine at a level of care, skill, and treatment which is recognized by a reasonably prudent podiatric physician as being acceptable under similar conditions and circumstances.

(Sections 461.013(1)(s) and 456.072(7), F.S.)
	MIN: $10,000 fine and six (6) month suspension;
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Six (6) month suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(27) Performing any procedure or prescribing any therapy which, by prevailing standards of podiatric practice in the community, would constitute experimentation on human subjects without first obtaining full, informed, and written consent.

(Section 461.013(1)(t), F.S.)
	MIN: $5,000 fine and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: $8,000 fine and one (1) year suspension;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(28) Practicing or offering to practice beyond the scope permitted by law or accepting and performing professional responsibilities which the licensee knows or has reason to know that he is not competent to perform.

(Sections 456.072(1)(o) and 461.013(1)(u), F.S.)
	MIN: $5,000 fine and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation. 
	MIN: $8,000 fine and one (1) year suspension;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(29) Delegating professional responsibilities to a person when the licensee delegating such responsibilities knows or has reason to know that such person is not qualified by training, experience or licensure to perform them.

(Sections 456.072(1)(p), and 461.013(1)(v), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: $5,000 fine and one (1) year of probation. 
	MIN: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine;
MAX: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan. 
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(30) Failure to comply with a lawful order of the Board.

(Sections 456.072(1)(q) and

461.013(1)(w), F.S.)
	MIN: $500 fine and suspension until compliance;
MAX: $1,000 fine and suspension until compliance.
	MIN: $1,000 fine and suspension until compliance;
MAX: $5,0000 fine and suspension until compliance.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan to include compliance;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan to include compliance.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan to include compliance;
MAX: Revocation.

	(31) Conspiring with another licensee or with any other person to commit an act, or committing an act, which would tend to coerce, intimidate or preclude another licensee from lawfully advertising his services.

(Section 461.013(1)(x), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: $1,500 fine and six (6) months of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine;
MAX: $10,000 fine and one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan. 
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(32) Prescribing, ordering, dispensing, administering, supplying, selling or giving growth hormones, testosterone or its analogs, human chorionic gonadotropin (CG), or other hormones for the purpose of muscle building or to enhance athletic performance.

(Section 461.013(1)(y), F.S.)
	MIN:$5,000 fine and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: $8,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN:$8,000 fine and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(33) Fraud, deceit, or misconduct in the practice of podiatric medicine.

(Section 461.013(1)(z), F.S.)
	MIN: $10,000 fine and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: Revocation and a $10,000 fine;
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.

	(34) Failure to report to the Department any licensee under Chapter 458 or 459, F.S., in the same facility for violations of disciplinary provisions of their laws and rules.

(Section 461.013(1)(aa), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $2,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $2,000 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan. 
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(35) Failure to comply with the requirements of Sections 381.026 and 381.0261, F.S., to provide patients with information regarding their patient rights and how to file a complaint.

(Sections 456.072(1)(u), and 461.013(1)(bb), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $250 fine;
MAX: $1,000 fine and six (6) months of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $2,000 fine;
MAX: $5,000 fine and one (1) year of probation. 
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan. 
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(36) Violating any provisions of Chapters 461, 456, F.S., or any rules promulgated thereto, unless otherwise specifically referenced herein.

(Sections 456.072(1)(dd) and 461.013(1)(cc), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $3,000 fine;
MAX: $8,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation. 
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan. 
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	a. Failure to complete the two (2) hour course on medical errors.

(Section 456.013(7), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand.

	b. Failure to provide the licensee’s current mailing address.

(Section 456.035(1), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $2,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $2,000 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand.

	c. Failure to submit or update required information.

(Section 456.039(3)(b), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand.

	d. Failure to report sexual misconduct.

(Section 456.063, F.S.) 
	MIN: Reprimand and a $1,500 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine.
	MIN: $5,000 fine and six (6) months of probation;
MAX: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.

	e. Authorizing or directing a person not certified pursuant to Section 461.0135, F.S., to operate X-Ray equipment.

(Section 461.013(2)(v), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $2,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand.

	(37) Failure to comply with HIV/AIDS education requirement.

(Section 456.072(1)(e), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $2,000 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan. 
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(38) Having been found liable in a civil proceeding for knowingly filing a false report or complaint with the Department against another licensee.

(Section 456.072(1)(g), F.S.)
	MIN: $500 fine and six (6) months of probation;
MAX: $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: $5,000 fine and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(39) Interfering with an investigation or inspection authorized by statute.

(Section 456.072(1)(r), F.S.)
	MIN: $1,000 fine and one (1) year suspension;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: $8,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(40) Failure to comply with domestic violence education requirement.

(Section 456.072(1)(s), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $2,000 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand. 
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(41) Failure to identify the type of license under which the practitioner is practicing.

(Section 456.072(1)(t), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $250 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $500 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $2,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand. 
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(42) Engaging or attempting to engage a patient or client in sexual misconduct as defined in Section 456.063(1), F.S.

(Section 456.072(1)(v), F.S.)
	MIN: $5,000 fine and one (1) year of suspension followed by one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(43) Failure to comply with the requirements of profiling or credentialing.

(Section 456.072(1)(w), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand.

	(44) Failure to report a criminal conviction or plea to the Board in writing within 30 days.

(Section 456.072(1)(x), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $250 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $500 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $2,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand. 
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(45) Using information about people involved in motor vehicle accidents which has been derived from accident reports, etc., for solicitation of business.

(Section 456.072(1)(y), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: $5,000 fine and six (6) months of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine;
MAX: $10,000 fine and one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan. 
	MIN: Reprimand, suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(46) Testing positive on a preemployment drug screen without lawful prescription for indicated drug.

(Section 456.072(1)(aa), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $500 fine, 
MAX: $1,000 fine and suspension until safe to practice with reasonable skill and safety.
	MIN: $5,000 fine and suspension until safe to practice with reasonable skill and safety;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan including, at a minimum, demonstration of the ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan including, at a minimum, demonstration of the ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety;
MAX: Revocation.

	(47) Performing health care services on the wrong patient, wrong site, wrong or unauthorized procedure.

(Section 456.072(1)(bb), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand, continuing education, and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: $5,000 fine and six (6) month suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand, $5,000 fine, continuing education, and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation.


	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Six (6) month suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(48) Leaving an undisclosed foreign object in patient.

(Section 456.072(1)(cc), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand, continuing education, and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: $5,000 fine and one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand, $5,000 fine, continuing education, and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Six (6) month suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(49) With respect to making a personal injury protection claim as required by Section 627.736, F.S., intentionally submitting a claim, statement, or bill that has been “up coded” as defined in Section 627.732, F.S.

(Section 456.072(1)(ee), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: $2,500 fine and six (6) months of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand, a $5,000 fine, and six (6) months of probation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX Suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(50) With respect to making a personal injury protection claim as required by Section 627.736, F.S., intentionally submitting a claim, statement, or bill for services not rendered.

(Section 456.072(1)(ff), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $3,000 fine;
MAX: $5,000 fine and one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand, a $5,000 fine, and six (6) month suspension;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX Suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: Six (6) month suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(51) Engaging in a pattern when prescribing medicinal drugs or controlled substances which demonstrates a lack of reasonable skill to patients.

(Section 456.072(1)(gg), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand, continuing education, and a $3,000 fine;
MAX: $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand, a $5,000 fine, continuing education courses, and a six (6) month suspension;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: Six (6) month suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(52) Termination from impaired practitioner treatment program.

(Section 456.072(1)(hh), F.S.)
	MIN: $1,000 fine, and suspension until safe to practice with reasonable skill and safety;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: $5,000 fine, one (1) year suspension followed by suspension until safe to practice with reasonable skill and safety;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan including, at a minimum, demonstration of the ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan as outlined above.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan including, at a minimum, demonstration of the ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety;
MAX: Revocation.

	(53) Being convicted of, or entering a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, any misdemeanor or felony, regardless of adjudication, to any of the acts set forth in Section 456.072(1)(ii), F.S., relating to the Medicaid program.

(Section 456.072(1)(ii), F.S.)
	MIN: $10,000 fine and six (6) month suspension;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Six (6) month suspension;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation

	(54) Failing to remit the sum owed to the state for an overpayment from the Medicaid program pursuant to a final order, judgment, or stipulation or settlement.

(Section 456.072(1)(jj), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $2,500 fine;
MAX: $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year of probation.
	MIN: $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(55) Being terminated from the state Medicaid program pursuant to Section 409.913, F.S., any other state Medicaid program, or the federal Medicare program, unless eligibility to participate in the program from which the practitioner was terminated has been restored.

(Section 456.072(1)(kk), F.S.)
	MIN: $10,000 fine and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: One (1) year suspension;
MAX: Revocation.

	(56) Being convicted of, or entering a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, any misdemeanor or felony, regardless of adjudication, a crime in any jurisdiction which relates to health care fraud.

(Section 456.072(1)(ll), F.S.)
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation and a $10,000 fine.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.

	(57) Failure to comply with controlled substance prescribing requirements for acute pain, pursuant to Rule 64B18-23.002, F.A.C., and Section 456.44, F.S.

(Section 456.072(1)(mm), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand, a fine of $500, and continuing education;
MAX: $1,000 fine and a six (6) month suspension followed by six (6) months of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand, a fine of $2,500, continuing education, and one (1) year of probation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Six (6) month suspension and a corrective action plan.
	MIN: Suspension and a corrective action plan;
MAX: Revocation.

	(58) Violating any of the provisions of Section 790.338, F.S.

(Section 456.072(1)(nn), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $250 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $500 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand, continuing education, and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: $2,000 fine and six (6) month suspension followed by six (6) months of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand. 
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(59) Willfully failing to comply with Section 627.64194 or 641.513, F.S., with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice.

(Section 456.072(1)(oo), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $250 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $500 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand, continuing education, and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: $2,000 fine and six (6) month suspension followed by six (6) months of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand. 
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(60) Providing information indicating that a person has a disability supporting a person’s need for an emotional support animal without knowledge of the person’s disability.

(Section 456.072(1)(pp), F.S.)
	MIN: Reprimand and a $250 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $500 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand, continuing education, and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: $2,000 fine and six (6) month suspension followed by six (6) months of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(61) Section 456.072(1)(rr), F.S: Failure to comply with the parental consent requirements of Section 1014.06, F.S.
	MIN: Reprimand and a $1,000 fine;
MAX: Reprimand and a $5,000 fine.
	MIN: Reprimand, continuing education, and a $5,000 fine;
MAX: $10,000 fine and six (6) month suspension followed by six (6) months of probation.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Reprimand.
	MIN: Reprimand;
MAX: Suspension and a corrective action plan.

	(62) Section 456.072(1)(ss), F.S: Being convicted or found guilty of, entering a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, regardless of adjudication, or committing or attempting, soliciting, or conspiring to commit an act that would constitute a violation of any of the offenses listed in Section 456.074(5), F.S., or a similar offense in another jurisdiction.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation. 
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.
	MIN: Revocation;
MAX: Revocation.


Rulemaking Authority 456.072, 456.079, 461.005, 461.013 FS. Law Implemented 456.033, 456.063, 456.072, 456.079, 461.012, 461.013 FS. History–New 11-21-79, Amended 8-31-81, Formerly 21T-14.02, Amended 10-14-86, 12-8-88, 1-19-92, 4-26-93, Formerly 21T-14.002, 61F12-14.002, Amended 2-25-96, 5-29-97, Formerly 59Z-14.002, Amended 11-17-97, 8-24-00, 8-13-02, 4-26-04, 6-14-06, 10-10-06, 11-25-07, 12-25-11, 11-27-16, 4-19-17, 1-2-19, 12-29-21.
64B18-14.003 Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances.

The Board will give consideration to aggravating and mitigating circumstances in determining the penalty to be imposed in any given case. The following factors will influence the Board’s decision:

(1) The severity of the offense;

(2) The danger to the public;

(3) The number of repetitions of the offense;

(4) The length of time since the violation when no further complaints have been made against the licensee;

(5) The number of times the licensee has been previously disciplined by the Board;

(6) The length of time the licensee has practiced without having any disciplinary action taken;

(7) The damage to a patient caused by the violation;

(8) Any efforts of rehabilitation by the licensee;

(9) The licensee’s actual knowledge of the violation;

(10) Attempts by the licensee to correct or stop the violation, or the refusal of the licensee to correct or stop the violation;

(11) Related violations by the licensee in Florida or in another jurisdiction, including findings of guilt or innocence, penalties imposed and penalties served;

(12) The degree to which the licensee was involved in the violation;

(13) The degree to which the licensee benefitted from the violation;

(14) The cost of the disciplinary action.

Rulemaking Authority 456.079(3), 461.005, 461.013(4) FS. Law Implemented 456.079, 461.013(4) FS. History–New 1-29-80, Formerly 21T-14.03, Amended 1-7-87, Formerly 21T-14.003, 61F12-14.003, Amended 3-26-95, 2-25-96, Formerly 59Z-14.003.

64B18-14.004 Advertising.

(1) It is the policy of the Board of Podiatric Medicine that advertising by licensed practitioners of the profession of podiatric medicine in this State should be regulated so as to effectuate the duty of the State of Florida to protect the health, safety, and welfare of its residents, while not abridging any rights guaranteed to such practitioners or to the public by the Constitution of the United States and the State of Florida, as construed by the United States Supreme Court and the Florida Supreme Court. To that end, the Board encourages the dissemination to the public of legitimate information, in accordance with the Board’s rules, regarding podiatric medicine and where and from whom services may be obtained, so long as such information is not false, deceptive, or misleading.

(2) Definition. For purposes of these rules “advertising” or “advertisement” means any statements, oral or written, disseminated to or before the public or any portion thereof, with the intent or purpose, either directly or indirectly of selling professional services, or offering to perform professional services, or inducing members of the public to enter into any obligation relating to such professional services. The terms “advertising” or “advertisement” shall include the name under which professional services are performed.

(3) Any advertisement or advertising shall be deemed by the Board to be false, deceptive, or misleading, and shall be prohibited, if it:

(a) Contains a misrepresentation of facts. The Board finds that it is a misrepresentation of fact for a podiatric physician to advertise that he performs “microsurgery” procedures when these procedures do not involve the dissection of minute structures under the microscope by means of a micro-manipulator; or

(b) Is misleading or deceptive because in its content or in the context in which it is presented it makes only a partial disclosure of relevant facts. More specifically, it is misleading and deceptive for a podiatric physician to advertise that certain services (i.e., x-rays, examinations, etc.) will be performed for free when in fact the podiatric physician is charging a third party payor for performing those services. Furthermore, it is misleading and deceptive for a podiatric physician to advertise that certain services (i.e., x-rays, examinations, etc.) will be performed for a specific charge when in fact that podiatric physician is transmitting a higher charge for the advertised services to a third party payor for payment, or

(c) Creates false or unjustified expectations of beneficial treatment or successful cures, or

(d) Contains representations relating to the quality of the podiatric medical services offered, or

(e) Conveys the impression that the podiatric physician disseminating the advertising or referred to therein possesses qualifications, skills, or other attributes, which are superior to other podiatric physicians, or

(f) Fails to conspicuously identify the podiatric physician or podiatric physicians by name in the advertisement or fails to conspicuously identify the podiatric physician or podiatric physicians referred to in the advertising as a podiatric physician. More specifically, the Board finds that it is misleading and deceptive for a licensee to place before the public in any media advertisement or on an office sign the wording “podiatric physician,” “podiatrist,” “chiropodist,” “foot specialist,” or “treatment of diseases of the foot and leg” without also conspicuously identifying in the advertisement or sign the names of each podiatric physician or podiatric physicians practicing at the location being advertised or identified. However, the Board concludes that patient referral service advertisements by the American Podiatric Medical Association and by any of its recognized component or affiliate organizations or by an organization certified or licensed as a health care provider by the United States or the State of Florida need not identify any podiatric physician who is a member of or otherwise associated with the organization or provider.

(g) Contains any representations or claims as to which the podiatric physician, referred to in the advertising, fails to perform, or

(h) Appears in a directory, including but not limited to the yellow pages of a phone book, under a heading indicating the podiatric physician practices a sub-specialty of podiatry unless the practice of the podiatric physician is limited exclusively to that sub-specialty. For example, a podiatric physician may not advertise in a directory under the heading “Physician and Surgeons – D.P.M. – Surgery,” unless his practice is limited exclusively to podiatric surgery. For purposes of this rule, “sub-specialty” is defined as any of the components which comprise podiatric medicine.

(i) Advertises that a podiatric physician is a member of an organization or possesses credentials other than licensure by this Board or the Department, including but not limited to certification, from an organization unless the organization is approved by this Board for the purposes of advertising only and the name of the organization is identified in full in the advertisement.

1. In order for an organization to obtain approval from this Board for advertising purposes it must submit a petition executed by a duly-authorized officer of the organization requesting approval. The petition must attest that:

a. The organization is composed of podiatric physicians interested in a special area of practice who have demonstrated that interest through successful completion of examinations or case reports approved by the organization; and,
b. The organization subscribes to a code of ethics approved by the Board; and,
c. The organization has rules and procedures for maintaining a high level of professional conduct and discipline among its membership; and,
d. The organization has an active membership of at least seventy-five (75) or that there is good cause for waiving the minimum membership requirement; and,
e. The organization sponsors courses in Board approved continuing podiatric education or sponsors annual meetings.

2. The petition must be accompanied by a copy of the organization’s by-laws and articles of incorporation or constitution, requirements for membership, and a complete roster of its membership. The Board may require that additional clarifying information be submitted prior to action on the petition.

3. If the organization offers certifications to podiatric physicians it must be an organization national in scope and give a certification examination at least once a year before the podiatric physician can advertise possession of the certification.

4. The Board shall require approved organizations to report specific information to justify retention of its approved status in the event of the organization’s status changes.

5. The American Podiatric Medical Association, the National Council of Competency Assurance, or any of their recognized component or affiliate organizations are automatically approved by the Board under this rule.

(j) Otherwise contains any representation, statement or claim which is misleading or deceptive.

(4) In the event a podiatric physician purchases the practice of another podiatric physician, the purchaser may use the name of the seller in advertisements for a period of three consecutive years from the time of said purchase. However, in all such advertisements the name of the seller must appear in the clause “formerly Dr. (seller’s name’s) office:” immediately beneath the name of the purchaser.

(5) Licensees may utilize letters following their names which indicate another educational designation or professional skill. However, if Florida Licensure or registration by the Department of Health is a prerequisite to practicing such profession, and if the licensee has not properly obtained such a license, the following procedure is mandated in all advertisements: the licensee must state immediately beneath his or her name that he or she is not licensed to practice the respective profession in the State of Florida.

(6) Institutional Advertising.

(a) “Institute” for purposes of this rule is defined as an organization for the promotion of podiatric medicine and for the welfare of members of the public seeking or interested in information about podiatric medical services.

(b) It shall be misleading, false and deceptive for any podiatric physician to advertise his practice as an “institute” as that may cause a violation of paragraph (3)(e), above.

(c) If a podiatric physician or an association of podiatric physicians creates or conducts an “institute” at the same physical location as his or its practice of podiatric medicine, then all advertisements of the practice and of the institute must be separate and distinct. For example, the term “institute” may not be used in any advertisement appearing in the commercial advertising section or yellow pages of telephone books or directories under headings related to podiatric medical practice such as “Physicians and Surgeons, DPM, Podiatrists (Foot).”

(d) If the director of an institute is a podiatric physician, then a publication or statement informing the public of the institute or its activities may list as its director the name of the podiatric physician followed by an indication, such as “DPM,” that the director is, indeed, a podiatric physician. By no other advertising means or medium, however, may a podiatric physician associate his practice with the institute.

Rulemaking Authority 461.005, FS. Law Implemented 456.027, 461.013(1)(d), (e) FS. History–New 1-29-80, Amended 4-22-82, 12-9-82, 7-26-84, 4-7-85, 8-27-85, Formerly 21T-14.04, Amended 10-14-86, 2-15-89, 10-15-89, 1-29-90, 6-19-90, 1-19-92, Formerly 21T-14.004, 61F12-14.004, Amended 6-17-97, Formerly 59Z-14.004.

64B18-14.005 Solicitation.

(1) It is the policy of the Board of Podiatric Medicine that solicitation by podiatric physicians in the state should be regulated so as to effectuate the duty of the State of Florida to protect the health, safety and welfare of its residents, while not abridging any rights guaranteed to such licensees or to the public by the Constitutions of the United States and the State of Florida as construed by the United States Supreme Court and the Florida Supreme Court.

(2) A podiatric physician shall not solicit, in person or otherwise, a prospective patient with whom a podiatric physician has no family or prior professional relationship, when a significant motive for such solicitation is the podiatric physician’s pecuniary gain. A podiatric physician shall not permit employees or agents of the podiatric physician to solicit in the podiatric physician’s behalf. A podiatric physician shall not enter into an agreement for, charge, or collect a fee for professional services obtained in violation of this rule. The term “solicit” includes contact in person, by telephone, telegraph, or facsimile, or by other communication directed to a specific recipient and includes any written form of communication directed to a specific recipient.

(a) A written communication to a prospective patient constitutes soliciting if:

1. It has been made known to the podiatric physician that the person does not want to receive such communication from the podiatric physician,
2. The communication involves coercion, duress, fraud, overreaching, harassment, intimidation, or undue influence,
3. The communication contains a false, fraudulent, misleading, deceptive, or unfair statement or claim or is improper under Rule 64B18-14.004, F.A.C.

(b) Written communications to prospective patients for the purpose of obtaining podiatric services are subject to the following requirements:

1. Each page of such written communication shall be plainly marked “advertisement” in red ink, and the lower, left corner of the face of the envelope containing a written communication likewise shall carry a prominent, red “advertisement” mark. If the written communication is in the form of a self-mailing brochure or pamphlet, the “advertisement” mark in red ink shall appear on the address panel of the brochure or pamphlet. Brochures solicited by patients or prospective patients need not contain the “advertisement” mark.

2. Written communications mailed to prospective patients shall be sent only by regular U.S. Mail and not by Registered Mail or other forms of restricted delivery.

3. No reference shall be made in the communication to the communication having received any kind of approval from the Board of Podiatric Medicine.

(3) Any form of invited communication to a potential client is permissible provided such communication conforms to the advertising guidelines of Rule 64B18-14.004, F.A.C.

Rulemaking Authority 461.005 FS. Law Implemented 461.013(1)(k) FS. History–New 1-29-80, Formerly 21T-14.05, 21T-14.005, 61F12-14.005, Amended 6-17-97, Formerly 59Z-14.005.

64B18-14.0051 Duty to Self-Report.

It is a violation of Section 461.013(1)(f), F.S., for a licensee to fail to report, in writing to the Department, any disciplinary action taken against the licensee by the licensing authority of another state, territory, or country.

Rulemaking Authority 461.005 FS. Law Implemented 461.013(1)(f) FS. History–New 2-25-96, Formerly 59Z-14.0051.

64B18-14.006 Casting Feet.

The practice of casting feet (making reproductions of feet or parts of feet), for the purpose of fabricating any orthopedic foot appliances (prosthetics) or molded shoes, and the making of such orthopedic foot appliances (prosthetics) or molded shoes from such casts is a violation of Chapter 461, F.S., when such orthopedic appliances or molded shoes or prosthetics or casts are made by persons not licensed to practice podiatric medicine in Florida, or a person not otherwise exempted from Chapter 461, F.S., and where such casts are made for or such appliances or shoes are applied for the correction of an abnormal ailment or orthopedic ailment, unless by prescription from a podiatric physician licensed in Florida.

Rulemaking Authority 461.005 FS. Law Implemented 461.002(2), 461.013(1)(g), (v) FS. History–New 1-29-80, Formerly 21T-14.06, Amended 10-14-86, Formerly 21T-14.006, 61F12-14.006, 59Z-14.006, Amended 8-24-99.

64B18-14.0072 Financial Responsibility.

(1) Unless exempted by the Board pursuant to Section 456.048(2), F.S., a podiatric physician shall maintain financial responsibility to pay claims and costs ancillary thereto arising out of the rendering of or the failure to render medical care or services, and shall demonstrate such financial responsibility as a condition of licensure and at the time of licensure renewal and reactivation of license by one of the following methods:

(a) Obtaining and maintaining professional liability coverage in an amount not less than $100,000 from an authorized insurer as defined under Section 624.09, F.S., from an eligible surplus lines insurer as defined under Section 626.914(2), F.S., from a risk retention group as defined under Section 627.942, F.S., from the Joint Underwriting Association established under Section 627.351(4), F.S., or through a plan of self-insurance as provided in Section 627.357, F.S.

(b) Establishing and maintaining an escrow account consisting of cash or securities eligible for deposit in accordance with Section 625.52, F.S., in an amount of not less than $100,000.

(c) Obtaining and maintaining an unexpired, irrevocable letter of credit, established pursuant to Chapter 675, F.S., in an amount not less than $100,000. The letter of credit shall be payable to the podiatric physician as beneficiary upon presentment of a final judgement indicating liability and awarding damages to be paid by the podiatric physician or upon presentment of a settlement agreement signed by all parties to such agreement when such final judgement or settlement is a result of a claim arising out of the rendering of or failure to render, medical care and services. Such letter of credit shall be nonassignable and nontransferable. Such letter of credit shall be issued by any bank or savings association organized and existing under the laws of this state or any bank or savings association organized under the laws of the United States that has its principal place of business in this state or has a branch office which is authorized under the laws of this state or of the United States to receive deposits in this state.

(2) Any person applying for reactivation of a license must show either that such licensee maintained tail insurance coverage which provided liability coverage for incidents that occurred on or after October 1, 1993, or the initial date of licensure in this state, whichever is later, and incidents that occurred before the date on which the license became inactive; or such licensee must submit an affidavit stating that such licensee has no unsatisfied medical malpractice judgements or settlements at the time of application for reactivation.

Rulemaking Authority 456.048, 461.005 FS. Law Implemented 456.048 FS. History–New 2-27-94, Formerly 61F12-12.011, 59Z-12.009, Amended 1-4-96, Formerly 59Z-14.0072, Amended 4-1-06.

64B18-14.009 Minor Violations; Notices of Noncompliance.

(1) Section 456.073(3), F.S., authorizes the Board, when enforcing rules and statutes, to permit the Department to issue a notice of noncompliance for any initial offense which is a minor violation as defined by Board rule. A minor violation under this statute is defined as one which does not endanger public health, safety, or welfare and does not demonstrate a serious inability to practice.

(2) Section 120.695, F.S., authorizes the Board, when enforcing rules, to permit the Department to issue a notice of noncompliance when there is a first time offense that is a minor violation as defined by Board rule. A minor violation is defined as one in which there is no economic or physical harm; no adverse effect to the public health, safety, or welfare; and no significant threat of such harm.

(3) A notice of noncompliance in lieu of other actions is authorized only if the violation is not a repeat violation and only if there is only one violation. If there are multiple violations, then the Department may not issue a notice of noncompliance, but must prosecute the violation under the other provisions of Section 456.073, F.S. There is only one exception to the prohibition against use of a notice of noncompliance when there is more than one violation. A notice of noncompliance may be issued to a registered dispensing practitioner for a first time violation of one or more of the violations listed in subsection (4), paragraphs (k), (l), (m), and (n), if there is not evidence of diversion.

(4) The Board hereby establishes the following as minor violations which the Department may act upon by issuing notices of noncompliance for an initial offense:

(a) Advertising violations encompassed by Rule 64B18-14.004, F.A.C.;

(b) Patient records deficiencies encompassed by Sections 456.057(1) and 461.013(1)(m), F.S.;

(c) Failure to provide the disclaimer required by Section 456.062, F.S.;

(d) Section 893.02, F.S., which provides that a prescription order for a controlled substance shall not be issued on the same prescription blank with another prescription order for a controlled substance which is named or described in a different schedule, nor shall any prescription order for a controlled substance be issued on the same prescription blank as a prescription order for a medicinal drug, as defined in Section 465.003(7), F.S., which does not fall within the definition of a controlled substance as defined in Chapter 893, F.S.

(e) Failing to maintain records relating to the receipt and disposition of controlled substances, and the required biennial inventory, as provided for in Section 893.07, F.S. This violation may be resolved by a notice of noncompliance only if the whereabouts of the drugs can be accounted for by other means and there is no evidence of diversion.

(f) Failure of a certified x-ray assistant to notify the supervising podiatric physician(s) of any changes to their certification status prior to continuing to perform the duties of a certified podiatric x-ray assistant, contrary to Rule 64B18-24.003, F.A.C.

(g) For a practitioner who is not required to register as a dispensing practitioner, failing to dispense drugs in the manufacturer’s labeled packaged with the practitioner’s name, patient’s name, and the date dispensed or, if such drugs are not dispensed in the manufacturer’s labeled package, failing to dispense the medication in a container which bears the following information: practitioner’s name; patient’s name; date dispensed; name and strength of the drug; and directions for use, contrary to Section 465.0276, F.S.

(h) Failing to properly store medications which require refrigeration, contrary to subsection 64B16-28.102(3), F.A.C. Sink and Running Water, Sufficient Space, Refrigeration, Sanitation, Equipment, effective 5-4-05, incorporated herein and available at https://www.flrules.org/Gateway/RuleNo.asp?title=GENERAL%20REQUIREMENTS%20-%20PERMITS&ID=64B16-28.102, and http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-11508.
(i) Failing to remove outdated medications from stock, contrary to Rule 64B16-28.110, F.A.C., Outdated Pharmaceuticals, effective 4-4-19, incorporated herein and available at https://www.flrules.org/Gateway/RuleNo.asp?title=GENERAL%20REQUIREMENTS%20-%20PERMITS&ID=64B16-28.110, and http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-11509.
(j) Failing to have proper labeling on all stock medications, contrary to Section 499.007, F.S.

(k) Failing to post the generic drug sign, contrary to Section 465.025(7), F.S. This applies to dispensing practitioners only.

(l) Failing to initial and date all controlled substances dispensed and all refills thereof, contrary to Section 893.04(1)(c)6., F.S. This applies to dispensing practitioners only.

(m) Filling controlled substance prescriptions which do not have the patient’s address on them, contrary to Section 893.04(1)(c)1., F.S. This applies to dispensing practitioners only.

(n) Filling controlled substance prescriptions which do not have the practitioner’s DEA number on them, contrary to Section 893.04(1)(c)2., F.S. This applies to dispensing practitioners only.

(o) Failing to maintain records relating to controlled substances in a readily retrievable form, contrary to Section 893.07(4), F.S., and 21 C.F.R. §1304.04, Maintenance of Records and Inventories, effective 9-9-14, incorporated herein and available at https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-2019-title21-vol9/pdf/CFR-2019-title21-vol9-sec1304-04.pdf, and http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-11507.

(p) Failing to dispense medication in a childproof container, contrary to 16 C.F.R. § 1700.14(a)(10), Substances Requiring Special Packaging, effective 8-7-73, incorporated herein and available at https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-2019-title16-vol2/pdf/CFR-2019-title16-vo12-sec1700-14.pdf and http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-11506.

(5) Failure of the licensee to take action in correcting the violation within 15 days after notice shall result in the institution of regular disciplinary proceedings. Failure of the licensee to comply with the notice of noncompliance within the time allowed or subsequent violations of a same or similar offense shall result in the issuance of a citation pursuant to Rule 64B18-14.010, F.A.C., or, if the citation is declined or if there is no citation available for the specific violation, shall result in the institution of the regular disciplinary process set forth in Section 456.073, F.S.

Rulemaking Authority 456.072(3), 456.073, 461.005 FS. Law Implemented 120.695, 456.073 FS. History–New 4-1-91, Formerly 21T-14.009, 61F12-14.009, Amended 2-25-96, 6-17-97, Formerly 59Z-14.009, Amended 8-8-99, 10-7-07, 2-17-20.

64B18-14.010 Citations.

(1) Pursuant to Section 456.077, F.S., the Board sets forth below those violations for which there is no substantial threat to the public health, safety, and welfare; or, if there is a substantial threat to the public health, safety, and welfare, such potential for harm has been removed prior to the issuance of the citation. Next to each violation is the penalty to be imposed. In addition to any administrative fine imposed, the Respondent shall be required by the Department to pay the costs of investigation.
(2) Citations may only be issued for an initial offense of the alleged violation. Subsequent violation(s) of the same rule or statute shall require the procedures of Section 456.073, F.S., to be followed. In addition, should an initial offense for which a citation could be issued occur in conjunction with other violations, then the procedures of Section 456.073, F.S., shall apply.

(3) The following violations may be disposed of by the Department by citation with the specified penalty:

	VIOLATIONS
	PENALTY 

	(a) CME violations Podiatrist.
(Section 456.077(2), F.S.)
	

	1. Failure to document 40 of the 40 required hours.
	$5,000 fine and reprimand.

	2. Failure to document required two (2) hour medical errors, HIV/AIDS, Florida laws and rules, or risk management CME.
	$500 fine per category.

	3. Documentation of some, but not all 40 hours of required CME for license renewal.
	$125 fine for each hour not documented.

	4. Failure to attend during the first biennium or within twenty-four (24) months of initial licensure one full day of a meeting of the Board of Podiatric Medicine at which disciplinary hearings are conducted. Guidelines outlined in Rule 64B18-17.005, F.A.C.
	$500 fine and required attendance of one full day of board meeting.

	(b) CME violations: Podiatric X-ray Assistant.
	$150 fine.

	Failure to document required eight (8) hour recertification course.
	

	(c) Practice on a delinquent license for a period of up to three months.
(Section 461.012(1)(a), F.S.)
	$500 fine for Podiatrist; $150 fine for Podiatric X-ray Assistant.

	(d) Failure to notify Department of change of current mailing address and place of practice.
(Sections 461.013(1)(h) and 456.035(1), F.S.)
	$500 fine for Podiatrist; $150 fine for Podiatric X-ray Assistant.

	(e) Failure to provide medical record of one patient in a timely manner.
(Section 456.057, F.S.)
	$500 fine and proof records were provided.

	(f) Failure to provide the disclaimer required for free or discounted services.
(Sections 456.062 and 456.077(2), F.S.)
	$500 fine.

	(g) Soliciting patients.
(Sections 456.077(2) and 461.013(1)(k), F.S.)
	$500 fine.

	(h) Tendering a check payable to the Board of Podiatric Medicine or to the Department of Health that is dishonored by the institution upon which it is drawn.
	$100 fine and payment of the check within 30 days.

	(i) Failure to pay required costs and fines.

(Section 456.077(2), F.S.)
	$2,500 fine and compliance of outstanding costs and fines within sixty days.

	(j) Failure to comply with sections 381.026 and 381.0261, F.S., referencing patients bill of rights.

(Section 456.077(2), F.S.)
	$250 fine and compliance within ten days.

	(k) Failure to submit or update profiling or credentialing information.

(Sections 456.039(3)(b) and 456.077(2), F.S.)
	A fine of $50.00 per day.

	(l) Failure to consult the Prescription Drug Monitoring Program Controlled Substance Dispensing Information Electronic System prior to prescribing or dispensing a controlled substance.

(Section 456.072(1)(gg), F.S., by a violation of Section 893.055(8), F.S.)
	$50.00 fine.


(4) The subject has 30 days from the date the citation becomes a final order to pay any fine imposed and costs. All fines and costs are to be made payable to the “Department of Health” and sent to the Board of Podiatric Medicine, at the Department of Health in Tallahassee. A copy of the citation shall accompany the payment of the fine.

(5) Should the licensee fail to or refuse to accept a citation, the matter shall be referred to the probable cause panel for procedures consistent with provisions of Section 456.072, F.S., and the penalties outlined in Rule 64B18-14.002, F.A.C.

Rulemaking Authority 456.072, 456.077, 461.005 FS. Law Implemented 456.057, 456.062, 456.072, 456.077, 461.012 FS. History–New 1-19-92, Formerly 21T-14.010, 61F12-14.010, Amended 3-26-95, 2-25-96, 6-17-97, Formerly 59Z-14.010, Amended 11-23-00, 8-13-02, 7-26-04, 6-14-06, 10-11-06, 10-7-07, 6-8-08, 11-10-11, 9-8-16, 1-2-19.

64B18-14.011 Mediation.

The Board of Podiatric Medicine has determined that the following violations are defined as mediation offenses:

(1) Failure to supply copies of patient records in a timely manner when requested by a patient or a patient’s representative;

(2) Failure to post the patient’s bill of rights as required by Sections 381.026 and 381.0261, F.S.;

(3) Failure to provide proof of proper financial responsibility.

Rulemaking Authority 456.078, 461.005 FS. Law Implemented 456.078 FS. History–New 3-26-95, Amended 6-17-97, Formerly 59Z-14.011, Amended 8-24-00, 7-26-04, 4-22-08.

64B18-14.012 Address of Record.

It shall be the duty of each licensee to provide to the Department of Health written notification of the licensee’s current mailing address and place of practice within fifteen (15) business days upon change thereof. Such written notification may be provided by United States mail, or alternatively, a licensee may update his or her address at the Board’s website [http://www.doh.state.fl.us/mqa/podiatry/po_maintain.html]. If a licensee chooses to update his or her mailing address or place of practice via the Board’s website, it shall be the responsibility of the licensee to confirm that such information has been accurately updated. The terms “place of practice” and “address of record” mean the address of the physical location where the licensee primarily practices podiatric medicine.
Rulemaking Authority 456.035, 461.005 FS. Law Implemented 456.035 FS. History–New 3-4-10.
